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SUBCHAPTER R—TOXIC SUBSTANCES CONTROL ACT 
(CONTINUED) 

PART 790—PROCEDURES GOV-
ERNING TESTING CONSENT 
AGREEMENTS AND TEST RULES 

Subpart A—General Provisions 

Sec. 
790.1 Scope, purpose, and authority. 
790.2 Applicability. 
790.3 Definitions. 
790.5 Submission of information. 
790.7 Confidentiality. 

Subpart B—Procedures for Developing 
Consent Agreements and Test Rules 

790.20 Recommendation, recommendation 
with an intent to designate, and designa-
tion of testing candidates by the ITC. 

790.22 Procedures for developing consent 
agreements. 

Subpart C—Implementation, Enforcement, 
and Modification of Test Rules 

790.40 Promulgation of test rules. 
790.42 Persons subject to a test rule. 
790.45 Submission of letter of intent to con-

duct testing or exemption application. 
790.48 Procedure if no one submits a letter 

of intent to conduct testing. 
790.50 Submission of study plans. 
790.52 Phase II test rule. 
790.55 Modification of test standards or 

schedules during conduct of test. 
790.59 Failure to comply with a test rule. 

Subpart D—Implementation, Enforcement 
and Modification of Consent Agreements 

790.60 Contents of consent agreements. 
790.62 Submission of study plans and con-

duct of testing. 
790.65 Failure to comply with a consent 

agreement. 
790.68 Modification of consent agreements. 

Subpart E—Exemptions From Test Rules 

790.80 Submission of exemption applica-
tions. 

790.82 Content of exemption application. 
790.85 Submission of equivalence data. 
790.87 Approval of exemption applications. 
790.88 Denial of exemption application. 
790.90 Appeal of denial of exemption appli-

cation. 
790.93 Termination of conditional exemp-

tion. 
790.97 Hearing procedures. 
790.99 Statement of financial responsibility. 

AUTHORITY: 15 U.S.C. 2603. 

Subpart A—General Provisions 

§ 790.1 Scope, purpose, and authority. 
(a) This part establishes procedures 

for gathering information, conducting 
negotiations, and developing and im-
plementing test rules or consent agree-
ments on chemical substances and mix-
tures under section 4 of TSCA. 

(b) Section 4 of the Act authorizes 
EPA to require manufacturers and 
processors of chemical substances and 
mixtures to test these chemicals to de-
termine whether they have adverse 
health or environmental effects. Sec-
tion 4 (a) empowers the Agency to pro-
mulgate rules which require such test-
ing. In addition, EPA has implied au-
thority to enter into enforceable con-
sent agreements requiring testing 
where they provide procedural safe-
guards equivalent to those that apply 
where testing is conducted by rule. 

(c) EPA intends to use enforceable 
consent agreements to accomplish 
testing where a consensus exists among 
EPA, affected manufacturers and/or 
processors, and interested members of 
the public concerning the need for and 
scope of testing. 

[51 FR 23712, June 30, 1986, as amended at 75 
FR 56475, Sept. 16, 2010] 

§ 790.2 Applicability. 
This part is applicable to manufac-

turers and processors of chemical sub-
stances or mixtures who are subject to 
the testing requirements of a consent 
agreement or a rule under section 4(a) 
of the Act. The procedures for test 
rules are applicable to each test rule in 
part 799 or this chapter unless other-
wise stated in specific test rules in part 
799 of this chapter. 

[51 FR 23712, June 30, 1986] 

§ 790.3 Definitions. 
Terms defined in the Act and not ex-

plicitly defined herein are used with 
the meaning given in the Act. For the 
purpose of this part: 
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Act means the Toxic Substances Con-
trol Act, 15 U.S.C. 2601 et seq. 

Additive means a chemical substance 
that is intentionally added to another 
chemical substance to improve its sta-
bility or impart some other desirable 
quality. 

Chemical means a chemical substance 
or mixture. 

Consortium means an association of 
manufacturers and/or processors who 
have made an agreement to jointly 
sponsor testing. 

EPA means the U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency. 

Equivalence data means chemical 
data or biological test data intended to 
show that two substances or mixtures 
are equivalent. 

Equivalent means that a chemical 
substance or mixture is able to rep-
resent or substitute for another in a 
test or series of tests, and that the data 
from one substance can be used to 
make scientific and regulatory deci-
sions concerning the other substance. 

Exemption means an exemption from 
a testing requirement of a test rule 
promulgated under section 4 of the Act 
and part 799 of this chapter. 

Impurity means a chemical substance 
which is uninitentionally present with 
another chemical substance. 

Joint sponsor means a person who 
sponsors testing pursuant to section 
4(b)(3)(A) of the Act. 

Joint sponsorship means the sponsor-
ship of testing by two or more persons 
in accordance with section 
4(b)(3)(A) of the Act. 

Person means an individual, partner-
ship, corporation, association, sci-
entific or academic establishment, or 
organizational unit thereof, and any 
other legal entity. 

Principal sponsor means an individual 
sponsor or the joint sponsor who as-
sumes primary responsibility for the 
direction of a study and for oral and 
written communication with EPA. 

Protocol means the plan and proce-
dures which are to be followed in con-
ducting a test. 

Reimbursement period refers to a pe-
riod that begins when the data from 
the last non-duplicative test to be com-
pleted under a test rule are submitted 
to EPA and ends after an amount of 
time equal to that which had been re-

quired to develop data or after five 
years, whichever is later. 

Sponsor means the person or persons 
who design, direct and finance the test-
ing of a substance or mixture. 

Test substance means the form of 
chemical substance or mixture that is 
specified for use in testing. 

[49 FR 39782, Oct. 10, 1984, as amended at 51 
FR 23712, June 30, 1986] 

§ 790.5 Submission of information. 
(a) All submissions to EPA under this 

part must bear the Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR) section number of 
the subject chemical test rule, or indi-
cate the identity of the consent agree-
ment. For all submissions under this 
part, six copies must be provided to 
EPA. 

(b) Submissions containing both con-
fidential business information or non- 
confidential business information must 
be addressed to the Document Control 
Office (DCO) (7407M), Office of Pollu-
tion Prevention and Toxics (OPPT), 
Environmental Protection Agency, 1200 
Pennsylvania Ave., NW., Washington, 
DC 20460–0001, ATTN: TSCA Section 4. 

[50 FR 20656, May 17, 1985, as amended at 51 
FR 23712, June 30, 1986; 58 FR 34205, June 23, 
1993; 60 FR 31922, June 19, 1995; 60 FR 34466, 
July 3, 1995; 71 FR 33642, June 12, 2006] 

§ 790.7 Confidentiality. 
(a) Any person subject to the require-

ments of a consent agreement or a test 
rule under section 4 of the Act may as-
sert a claim of confidentiality for cer-
tain information submitted to EPA in 
response to the consent agreement or 
the test rule. Any information claimed 
as confidential will be treated in ac-
cordance with the procedures in part 2 
of this title and section 14 of the Act. 
Failure to assert a claim of confiden-
tiality at the time the information is 
submitted will result in the informa-
tion being made available to the public 
without further notice to the sub-
mitter. 

(b) A claim of confidentiality must 
be asserted by circling or otherwise 
marking the specific information 
claimed as confidential and desig-
nating it with the words ‘‘confidential 
business information,’’ ‘‘trade secret,’’ 
or another appropriate phrase indi-
cating its confidential character. 
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(c) If a person asserts a claim of con-
fidentiality for study plan information 
described in §§ 790.50(c)(1)(iii)(D), (iv), 
(v), and (vi) and 790.62(b)(6), (7), (8), (9), 
and (10), the person must provide a de-
tailed written substantiation of the 
claim by answering the questions in 
this paragraph. Failure to provide writ-
ten substantiation at the time the 
study plan information is submitted 
will be considered a waiver of the claim 
of confidentiality, and the study plan 
information will be disclosed to the 
public without further notice. 

(1) Would disclosure of the study plan 
information disclose processes used in 
the manufacture or processing of a 
chemical substance or mixture? De-
scribe how this would occur. 

(2) Would disclosure of the study plan 
information disclose the portion of a 
mixture comprised by any of the sub-
stances in the mixture? Describe how 
this would occur. 

(3) What harmful effects to your com-
petitive position, if any, do you think 
would result from disclosure of this in-
formation? How would a competitor 
use such information? How substantial 
would the harmful effects be? What is 
the causal relationship between disclo-
sure and the harmful effects? 

(4) For what period of time should 
confidential treatment be given? Until 
a specific date, the occurrence of a spe-
cific event, or permanently? Why? 

(5) What measures have you taken to 
guard against disclosure of this infor-
mation to others? 

(6) To what extent has this informa-
tion been disclosed to others? What 
precautions have been taken in connec-
tion with such disclosures? 

(7) Has this information been dis-
closed to the public in any forms? De-
scribe the circumstances. 

(8) Has the information been dis-
closed in a patent? 

(9) Has EPA, another Federal agency, 
or any Federal court made any perti-
nent confidentiality determination re-
garding this information? If so, copies 
of such determinations must be in-
cluded in the substantiation. 

(d) If the substantiation provided 
under paragraph (c) of this section con-
tains information which the submitter 
considers confidential, the submitter 
must assert a separate claim of con-

fidentiality for that information at the 
time of submission in accordance with 
paragraph (b) of this section. 

[49 FR 39782, Oct. 10, 1984, as amended at 51 
FR 23713, June 30, 1986] 

Subpart B—Procedures for Devel-
oping Consent Agreements 
and Test Rules 

SOURCE: 51 FR 23713, June 30, 1986, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§790.20 Recommendation, rec-
ommendation with an intent to des-
ignate, and designation of testing 
candidates by the ITC. 

(a) ITC recommendations and rec-
ommendations with intent to designate. 
The ITC has advised EPA that it will 
discharge its responsibilities under sec-
tion 4(e) of TSCA in the following man-
ner: 

(1) When the ITC identifies a chem-
ical substance or mixture that it be-
lieves should receive expedited consid-
eration by EPA for testing, the ITC 
may add the substance or mixture to 
its list of chemicals recommended for 
testing and include a statement that 
the ITC intends to designate the sub-
stance or mixture for action by EPA in 
accordance with section 4(e)(1)(B) of 
TSCA. 

(2) Chemical substances or mixtures 
selected for expedited review under 
paragraph (a)(1) of this section may, at 
a later time, be designated for EPA ac-
tion within 12 months of such designa-
tion. The ITC’s subsequent decision 
would be based on the ITC’s review of 
TSCA sections 8(a) and 8(d) data and 
other relevant information. 

(3) Where the ITC concludes that a 
chemical substance or mixture war-
rants testing consideration but that 
expedited EPA review of testing needs 
is not justified, the ITC will add the 
substance or mixture to its list of test-
ing recommendations without express-
ing an intent to designate the sub-
stance or mixture for EPA action in ac-
cordance with section 4(e)(1)(B) of 
TSCA. 

(4) The ITC reserves its right to des-
ignate any chemical substance or mix-
ture that it determines the Agency 
should, within 12 months of the date 
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first designated, initiate a proceeding 
under section 4(a) of TSCA. 

(b) Preliminary EPA evaluation of ITC 
recommendations with intent to designate. 
Following receipt of an ITC report con-
taining a recommendation with an in-
tent to designate, EPA will use the fol-
lowing procedure for completing a pre-
liminary evaluation of testing needs on 
those chemical substances that the ITC 
has recommended with intent to des-
ignate: 

(1) EPA will publish the ITC report in 
the FEDERAL REGISTER and announce 
that interested persons have 30 days to 
submit comments on the ITC’s testing 
recommendations. 

(2) EPA will publish a FEDERAL REG-
ISTER document adding all ITC-rec-
ommended chemicals to the automatic 
reporting provisions of its rules under 
sections 8(a) and 8(d) of TSCA (40 CFR 
parts 712 and 716). 

(3) EPA will hold a public ‘‘focus 
meeting’’ to discuss the ITC’s testing 
recommendations and obtain com-
ments and information from interested 
parties. 

(4) EPA will evaluate submissions re-
ceived under TSCA sections 8(a) and 
8(d) reporting requirements, comments 
filed on the ITC’s recommendations, 
and other information and data com-
piled by the Agency. 

(5) EPA will make a preliminary staff 
determination of the need for testing 
and, where testing appears warranted, 
will tentatively select the studies to be 
performed. 

(6) EPA will hold a public meeting to 
announce its preliminary testing deter-
minations. 

(c) EPA response to ITC designations 
and recommendations—(1) Where a 
chemical substance or mixture is des-
ignated for EPA action under section 
4(e)(1)(B) of TSCA, the Agency will 
take either one of the following actions 
within 12 months after receiving the 
ITC designation: 

(i) Initiate rulemaking proceedings 
under section 4(a) of TSCA. Where the 
testing recommendations of the ITC 
raise unusually complex and novel 
issues that require additional Agency 
review and opportunity for public com-
ment, the Agency may initiate rule-
making by publishing an Advance No-

tice of Proposed Rulemaking 
(ANPRM). 

(ii) Publish a FEDERAL REGISTER no-
tice explaining the Agency’s reasons 
for not initiating such rulemaking pro-
ceedings. EPA may conclude that rule-
making proceedings under section 4(a) 
of TSCA are unnecessary if it deter-
mines that the findings specified in 
section 4(a) of TSCA cannot be made or 
if the Agency entered into a consent 
agreement requiring the testing identi-
fied by the ITC. 

(2) Where a chemical substance or 
mixture has been recommended for 
testing by the ITC, whether with or 
without an intent to designate, EPA 
will use its best efforts to act on the 
ITC’s recommendations as rapidly as 
possible consistent with its other prior-
ities and responsibilities. EPA may re-
spond to the ITC’s recommendations 
with action such as: 

(i) Initiating rulemaking proceedings 
under section 4(a) of TSCA, 

(ii) Publishing a FEDERAL REGISTER 
notice explaining the Agency’s reasons 
for concluding that testing is unneces-
sary, or 

(iii) Entering into a consent agree-
ment in accordance with this subpart. 

[75 FR 56475, Sept. 16, 2010] 

§790.22 Procedures for developing 
consent agreements. 

(a) Preliminary EPA evaluation of pro-
posed consent agreement. Where EPA be-
lieves that testing of a chemical sub-
stance or mixture may be needed, and 
wishes to explore whether a consent 
agreement may satisfy the identified 
testing needs, EPA will invite manu-
facturers and/or processors of the af-
fected chemical substance or mixture 
to submit a proposed consent agree-
ment to EPA. EPA will evaluate the 
proposal(s) and may request additional 
clarifications of or revisions to the pro-
posal(s). 

(b) Negotiation procedures for consent 
agreements. If, after evaluating the pro-
posed consent agreement(s), EPA be-
lieves it is likely that proceeding with 
negotiation of a consent agreement 
would be an efficient means of devel-
oping the data, EPA will use the fol-
lowing procedures to conduct such ne-
gotiations: 
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(1) In the FEDERAL REGISTER, EPA 
will give notice of the availability of 
the proposal(s) that is the basis for ne-
gotiation, invite persons interested in 
participating in or monitoring negotia-
tions to contact the Agency in writing, 
set a deadline for interested parties to 
contact the Agency in writing, and set 
a date for the negotiation meeting(s). 

(2) The Agency will meet with inter-
ested parties at the negotiation meet-
ing(s) for the purpose of attempting to 
negotiate a consent agreement. Only 
the submitter(s) of the proposal(s) that 
is the basis for negotiation and those 
persons who submit written requests to 
participate in or monitor negotiations 
by the deadline established under para-
graph (b)(1) of this section will be 
deemed ‘‘interested parties’’ for pur-
poses of this section. 

(3) All negotiation meetings will be 
open to members of the public, but 
only interested parties will be per-
mitted to participate in negotiations. 
The minutes of each meeting will be 
prepared by EPA. Meeting minutes, the 
proposed consent agreement(s), back-
ground documents, and other materials 
distributed at negotiation meetings 
will be placed in an Internet-accessible 
public docket established by EPA. 

(4) If EPA concludes at any time that 
negotiations are unlikely to produce a 
final agreement, EPA will terminate 
negotiations and may proceed with 
rulemaking. If EPA terminates nego-
tiations, no further opportunity for ne-
gotiations will be provided. EPA will 
notify all interested parties of the ter-
mination. 

(5) The period between the first nego-
tiation meeting and final agreement, if 
any (‘‘the negotiation period’’), will be 
no longer than 6 months, unless ex-
tended prior to its expiration in ac-
cordance with paragraph (b)(7) of this 
section. This period will include all ne-
gotiation meetings, and the processes 
discussed in paragraphs (b)(6) and (b)(9) 
of this section. If the negotiation pe-
riod passes without the production of a 
final agreement, negotiations and de-
velopment of the subject ECA will ter-
minate automatically. 

(6) EPA will circulate a draft of the 
consent agreement to all interested 
parties if EPA concludes that such 
draft is likely to achieve final agree-

ment. A period of 30 days will be pro-
vided for submitting comments or writ-
ten objections under paragraph 
(b)(8)(i)(B) of this section. 

(7) If, prior to the expiration of the 
negotiation period, final agreement has 
not been reached, EPA may at its dis-
cretion provide one or more extensions, 
each of which may be up to 60 days, if 
it seems likely to EPA that a final 
agreement will be reached during that 
time. EPA will notify all interested 
parties of any extension(s). 

(8) (i) EPA will enter into consent 
agreements only where there is a con-
sensus among the Agency, one or more 
manufacturers and/or processors who 
agree to conduct or sponsor the test-
ing, and all other interested parties 
who identify themselves in accordance 
with paragraph (b)(2) of this section. 
EPA will not enter into a consent 
agreement in either of the following 
circumstances: 

(A) EPA and affected manufacturers 
and/or processors cannot reach a con-
sensus in the timeframe described in 
paragraph (b)(5) of this section. 

(B) A draft consent agreement is con-
sidered inadequate by other interested 
parties who have submitted timely 
written objections to the draft consent 
agreement, which provide a specific ex-
planation of the grounds on which the 
draft agreement is objectionable. 

(ii) EPA may reject objections de-
scribed in paragraph (b)(8)(i)(B) of this 
section only where the Agency con-
cludes the objections: 

(A) Are not made in good faith; 
(B) Are untimely; 
(C) Do not involve the adequacy of 

the proposed testing program or other 
features of the agreement that may af-
fect EPA’s ability to fulfill the goals 
and purposes of TSCA; or 

(D) Are not accompanied by a specific 
explanation of the grounds on which 
the draft agreement is considered ob-
jectionable. 

(iii) The unwillingness of some manu-
facturers and/or processors to sign the 
draft consent agreement does not, in 
itself, establish a lack of consensus if 
EPA concludes that those manufactur-
ers and/or processors who are prepared 
to sign the agreement are capable of 
accomplishing the testing to be re-
quired and that the draft agreement 
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will achieve the purposes of TSCA in 
all other respects. 

(9) Where a consensus exists, as de-
scribed in paragraph (b)(8) of this sec-
tion, concerning the contents of a draft 
consent agreement, the draft consent 
agreement will be circulated to EPA 
management and the parties that are 
to conduct or sponsor testing under the 
agreement, for final approval and sig-
nature. 

(10) Upon final approval and signa-
ture of a consent agreement, EPA will 
publish a FEDERAL REGISTER document 
announcing the availability of the con-
sent agreement and codifying (in sub-
part C of 40 CFR part 799) the name of 
the chemical substance(s) and/or mix-
ture(s) to be tested and the citation to 
the FEDERAL REGISTER document. 

[75 FR 56475, Sept. 16, 2010] 

Subpart C—Implementation, En-
forcement, and Modification 
of Test Rules 

SOURCE: 50 FR 20657, May 17, 1985, unless 
otherwise noted. Redesignated at 51 FR 23713, 
June 30, 1986. 

§ 790.40 Promulgation of test rules. 

(a) If EPA determines that it is nec-
essary to test a chemical substance or 
mixture by rule under section 4 of the 
Act, it will promulgate a test rule in 
part 799 of this chapter. 

(b) EPA will promulgate specific test 
rules in part 799 of this chapter either 
by a single-phase rulemaking proce-
dure or by a two-phase rulemaking pro-
cedure. 

(1) Under single-phase test rule devel-
opment, EPA will promulgate a test 
rule in part 799 of this chapter through 
a notice and comment rulemaking 
which specifies the following: 

(i) Identification of the chemical for 
which testing is required under the 
rule. 

(ii) The health or environmental ef-
fect or effects or other characteristics 
for which testing is being required. 

(iii) Which test substance(s) must be 
tested. 

(iv) Standards for the development of 
test data. 

(v) The EPA Good Laboratory Prac-
tice requirements for the required test-
ing. 

(vi) Schedule for submission of in-
terim reports and/or final reports to 
EPA. 

(vii) Who must submit either letters 
of intent to conduct testing or exemp-
tion applications. 

(viii) What types of data EPA will ex-
amine in determining equivalence if 
more than one test substance is to be 
tested. 

(2) Under two-phase test rule develop-
ment, EPA will promulgate a Phase I 
test rule in part 799 of this chapter 
through a notice and comment rule-
making which specifies the following: 

(i) Identification of the chemical for 
which testing is required under the 
rule. 

(ii) The health or environmental ef-
fect or effects or other characteristics 
for which testing is being required. 

(iii) Which test substance(s) must be 
tested. 

(iv) A reference to appropriate guide-
lines for the development of test data. 

(v) The EPA Good Laboratory Prac-
tice requirements for the required test-
ing. 

(vi) Who must submit either letters 
of intent to conduct testing and study 
plans, or exemption applications. 

(vii) What types of data EPA will ex-
amine in determining equivalence if 
more than one test substance is to be 
tested. 

(3) Under two-phase test rule develop-
ment, test standards and schedules will 
be developed in a second phase of rule-
making as described in §§ 790.50 and 
790.52. 

[50 FR 20657, May 17, 1985. Redesignated and 
amended at 51 FR 23713, June 30, 1986; 54 FR 
36313, Sept. 1, 1989] 

§ 790.42 Persons subject to a test rule. 
(a) Each test rule described in § 790.40 

will specify whether manufacturers, 
processors, or both are subject to the 
requirement for testing of the subject 
chemical under section 4(b)(3)(B) of the 
Act and will indicate who will be re-
quired to submit letters of intent to 
conduct testing. 

(1) If testing is being required to 
allow evaluation of risks: 
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(i) Primarily associated with manu-
facture of the chemical, or 

(ii) Associated with both manufac-
turer and processing of the chemical, 
or 

(iii) Associated with distribution in 
commerce, use, and/or disposal activi-
ties concerning the chemical, each 
manufacturer of the chemical will be 
subject and must comply with the re-
quirements of the test rule. 

(2) While legally subject to the test 
rule in circumstances described in 
paragraphs (a)(1) (ii) and (iii) of this 
section, processors of the chemical 
must comply with the requirements of 
the test rule only if processors are di-
rected to do so in a subsequent notice 
as set forth in § 790.48(b). 

(3) If testing is being required to 
allow evaluation of risks associated 
solely with processing of the chemical, 
processors will be subject and must 
comply with the requirements of the 
test rule. 

(4) While legally subject to the test 
rule in circumstances described in 
paragraph (a)(1) of this section, persons 
who manufacture less than 500 kg (1,100 
lb) of the chemical annually during the 
period from the effective date of the 
test rule to the end of the reimburse-
ment period, must comply with the re-
quirements of the test rule only if such 
manufacturers are directed to do so in 
a subsequent notice as set forth in 
§ 790.48, or if directed to do so in a par-
ticular test rule. 

(5) While legally subject to the test 
rule in circumstances described in 
paragraph (a)(1) of this section, persons 
who manufacture small quantities of 
the chemical solely for research and 
development (meaning quantities that 
are not greater than those necessary 
for purposes of scientific experimen-
tation or analysis or chemical research 
on, or analysis of, such chemical or an-
other chemical, including such re-
search or analysis for development of a 
product) from the effective date of the 
test rule to the end of the reimburse-
ment period, must comply with the re-
quirements of the test rule only if such 
manufacturers are directed to do so in 
subsequent notice set forth in § 790.48, 
or if directed to do so in a particular 
test rule. 

(6) If testing is being required to 
allow evaluation of risks associated 
primarily with manufacture of a chem-
ical for research and development (R & 
D) purposes, manufacturers of the 
chemical for R & D will be subject and 
must comply with the requirements of 
the test rule. 

(b) [Reserved] 

[50 FR 20657, May 17, 1985. Redesignated at 51 
FR 23713, June 30, 1986, and amended at 55 FR 
18884, May 7, 1990] 

§ 790.45 Submission of letter of intent 
to conduct testing or exemption ap-
plication. 

(a) No later than 30 days after the ef-
fective date of a test rule described in 
§ 790.40, each person subject to that rule 
and required to comply with the re-
quirements of that rule as provided in 
§ 790.42(a) must, for each test required, 
either notify EPA by letter of his or 
her intent to conduct testing or submit 
to EPA an application for an exemp-
tion from testing requirements for the 
test. 

(b) EPA will consider letters of in-
tent to test as commitments to sponsor 
the tests for which they are submitted 
unless EPA agrees to the substitution 
of an exemption application in in-
stances where more than one person in-
dicates an intent to sponsor equivalent 
tests. 

(c) Each letter of intent to conduct 
testing must include: 

(1) Identification of test rule. 
(2) Name, address, and telephone 

number of the firm(s) which will be 
sponsoring the tests. 

(3) Name, address, and telephone 
number of the appropriate individual 
to contact for further information. 

(4) For sponsors participating in a 
testing consortium—a list of all mem-
bers of the consortium, the signature 
of an authorized representative of each 
member, and a designation of who is to 
serve as principal sponsor. 

(5) A list of the testing requirements 
for which the sponsor(s) intends to con-
duct tests. 

(6) If EPA is requiring testing of 
more than one representative sub-
stance—which test substance the spon-
sor(s) intends to use in each of the 
tests. 
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(d)(1) Any person not manufacturing 
or processing the subject chemical as 
of the effective date of the test rule de-
scribing in § 790.40 or by 30 days after 
the effective date of the rule who, be-
fore the end of the reimbursement pe-
riod, manufacturers or processes the 
test chemical and who is subject to and 
required to comply with the require-
ments of the test rule must submit the 
letter of intent to test or an exemption 
application required by paragraph (a) 
of this section by the date manufacture 
or processing begins, or 

(2) When both manufacturers and 
processors are subject to the rule, any 
person not processing the subject 
chemical as of the effective date of the 
test rule described in § 790.40 or by 30 
days after publication of the FEDERAL 
REGISTER notice described in 
§ 790.48(b)(2) who, before the end of the 
reimbursement period, processes the 
test chemical and who is required to 
comply with the requirements of the 
rule must submit the letter of intent to 
test or an exemption application re-
quired by § 790.48(b)(3) of the date proc-
essing begins. 

(e) Manufacturers subject to a test 
rule described in § 790.40 who do not 
submit to EPA either a letter of their 
intent to conduct tests or a request for 
an exemption from testing for each 
test for which testing is required in the 
test rule will be considered in violation 
of that rule beginning on the 31st day 
after the effective date of the test rule 
described in § 790.40 or on the date man-
ufacture begins as described in para-
graph (d) of this section. 

(f) Processors subject to a test rule 
described in § 790.40 and required to 
comply with the requirements of test 
rule pursuant to § 790.42(a)(2) or a FED-
ERAL REGISTER notice as described in 
§ 790.48(b)(2) who do not submit to EPA 
either a letter of their intent to con-
duct tests or a request for an exemp-
tion for each test for which testing is 
required in the test rule will be consid-
ered in violation of that rule beginning 
on the 31st day after the effective date 
of the test rule described in § 790.40 or 
31 days after publication of the FED-
ERAL REGISTER notice described in 
§ 790.48(b)(2) or on the date processing 
begins as described in paragraph (d) of 
this section, as appropriate. 

§ 790.48 Procedure if no one submits a 
letter of intent to conduct testing. 

(a) If only manufacturers are subject to 
the rule. (1) This paragraph applies if 
testing is being required solely to allow 
evaluation of risks associated with 
manufacturing and the test rule de-
scribed in § 790.40 states that manufac-
turers only are responsible for testing. 

(2) If no manufacturer subject to the 
test rule has notified EPA of its intent 
to conduct one or more of the required 
tests within 30 days after the effective 
date of the test rule described in 
§ 790.40, EPA will notify all manufac-
turers, including those described in 
§ 790.42(a)(4) and (a)(5), by certified mail 
or by publishing a notice of this fact in 
the FEDERAL REGISTER specifying the 
tests for which no letter of intent has 
been submitted and will give such man-
ufacturers an opportunity to take cor-
rective action. 

(3) If no manufacturer submits a let-
ter of intent to conduct one or more of 
the required tests within 30 days after 
receipt of the certified letter or publi-
cation of the FEDERAL REGISTER notice 
described in paragraph (a)(2) of this 
section, all manufacturers subject to 
the rule will be in violation of the test 
rule from the 31st day after receipt of 
the certified letter or publication of 
the FEDERAL REGISTER notice described 
in this paragraph. 

(b) If manufacturers and processors are 
subject to the rule. (1) This paragraph 
applies if testing is being required to 
allow evaluation of risks associated 
with manufacturing and processing or 
with distribution in commerce, use, or 
disposal of the chemical and the test 
rule described in § 790.40 states that 
manufacturers and processors are re-
sponsible for testing. 

(2) If no manufacturer subject to the 
rule has notified EPA of its intent to 
conduct testing for one or more of the 
required tests within 30 days after the 
effective date of the test rule described 
in § 790.40, EPA will publish a notice in 
the FEDERAL REGISTER of this fact 
specifying the tests for which no letter 
of intent has been submitted. 

(3) No later than 30 days after the 
date of publication of the FEDERAL 
REGISTER notice described in paragraph 
(b)(2) of this section, each person de-
scribed in § 790.40(a)(4) and (5) and each 
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person processing the subject chemical 
as of the effective date of the test rule 
described in § 790.40 or by 30 days after 
the date of publication of the FEDERAL 
REGISTER notice described in paragraph 
(b)(2) of this section must, for each test 
specified in the FEDERAL REGISTER no-
tice, either notify EPA by letter of his 
or her intent to conduct testing or sub-
mit to EPA an application for an ex-
emption from testing requirements for 
the test. 

(4) If no manufacturer or processor of 
the test chemical has submitted a let-
ter of intent to conduct one or more of 
the required tests within 30 days after 
the date of publication of the FEDERAL 
REGISTER notice described in paragraph 
(b)(2) of this section, EPA will notify 
all manufacturers and processors by 
certified letter or publish a FEDERAL 
REGISTER notice of this fact specifying 
the tests for which no letter of intent 
has been submitted. This letter or FED-
ERAL REGISTER notice will give the 
manufacturers and processors an op-
portunity to take corrective action. 

(5) If no manufacturer or processor 
submits a letter of intent to conduct 
one or more of the required tests with-
in 30 days after receipt of the certified 
letter or publication of the FEDERAL 
REGISTER notice described in paragraph 
(b)(4) of this section, all manufacturers 
and processors subject to the rule will 
be in violation of the test rule from the 
31st day after receipt of the certified 
letter or publication of the FEDERAL 
REGISTER notice described in paragraph 
(b)(4) of this section. 

(c) Only processors are subject to the 
rule. (1) This paragraph applies if test-
ing is being required solely to allow 
evaluation of risks associated with 
processing and the test rule described 
in § 790.40 states that only processors 
are responsible for testing. 

(2) If no processor subject to the rule 
has notified EPA of its intent to con-
duct one or more of the required tests 
within 30 days after the effective date 
of the test rule described in § 790.40, 
EPA will notify all the processors by 
certified mail or publish a notice in the 
FEDERAL REGISTER of this fact, speci-
fying the tests for which no letter of 
intent has been submitted and give the 
processors an opportunity to take cor-
rective action. 

(3) If no processor submits a letter of 
intent to conduct one or more of the 
required tests within 30 days after re-
ceipt of the certified letter or publica-
tion of the FEDERAL REGISTER notice 
described in paragraph (c)(2) of this 
section, all processors subject to the 
rule will be in violation of the test rule 
from the 31st day after receipt of the 
certified letter or publication of the 
FEDERAL REGISTER notice described in 
this paragraph. 

[50 FR 20657, May 17, 1985. Redesignated at 51 
FR 23713, June 30, 1986, and amended at 55 FR 
18884, May 7, 1990] 

§ 790.50 Submission of study plans. 

(a) Who must submit study plans. (1) 
Persons who notify EPA of their intent 
to conduct tests in compliance with 
the requirements of a single phase test 
rule as described in § 790.40(b)(1) must 
submit study plans for those tests prior 
to the initiation of each of these tests, 
unless directed by a particular test 
rule or consent agreement to submit 
study plans at a specific time. 

(2) Persons who notify EPA of their 
intent to conduct tests in compliance 
with the requirements of a Phase I test 
rule as described in § 790.40(b)(2) must 
submit the proposed study plans for 
those tests on or before 90 days after 
the effective date of the Phase I rule; 
or, for processors complying with the 
notice described in § 790.48(b)(2), 90 days 
after the publication date of that no-
tice; or 60 days after the date manufac-
ture or processing begins as described 
in § 790.45(d), as appropriate, to the ad-
dress in § 790.5(b). 

(3) Study plans must be prepared ac-
cording to the requirements of this 
subpart B and part 792 of this chapter. 
Only one set of study plans should be 
prepared and submitted by persons who 
are jointly sponsoring testing. 

(4) Any person subject to a test rule 
may submit a study plan for any test 
required by the rule at any time, re-
gardless of whether the person pre-
viously submitted an application for 
exemption from testing for that test. 

(5) Unless EPA has granted an exten-
sion of time for submission of proposed 
study plans, manufacturers who notify 
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EPA that they intend to conduct test-
ing in compliance with the require-
ments of a Phase I test rule as de-
scribed in § 790.40(b)(2) and who do not 
submit proposed study plans for those 
tests on or before 90 days after the ef-
fective date of the Phase I test rule or 
60 days after the date manufacture be-
gins as described in § 790.45(d) will be 
considered in violation of the test rule 
as if no letter of intent to test had been 
submitted. 

(6) Unless EPA has granted an exten-
sion of time for submission of proposed 
study plans, processors who notify EPA 
that they intend to conduct testing in 
compliance with the requirements of a 
Phase I test rule as described in 
§ 790.40(b)(2) and who do not submit pro-
posed study plans for those tests on or 
before 90 days after the effective date 
of the Phase I test rule or 90 days after 
the publication date of the notice de-
scribed in § 790.48(b)(2), or 60 days after 
the date processing begins as described 
in § 790.45(d), as appropriate, will be 
considered in violation of the test rule 
as if no letter of intent to test had been 
submitted. 

(b) Extensions of time for submission of 
study plans. (1) EPA may grant re-
quests for additional time for the de-
velopment of study plans on a case-by- 
case basis. Requests for additional time 
for study plan development must be 
made in writing to EPA at the address 
in § 790.5(b). Each extension request 
must state why EPA should grant the 
extension. 

(2) Under two-phase rulemaking, ex-
tension requests must be submitted to 
EPA within 60 days after the effective 
date of the Phase I test rule as de-
scribed in § 790.40(b)(2); or for proc-
essors complying with the notice de-
scribed in § 790.48(b)(2), 60 days after the 
publication date of that notice; or 30 
days after the date manufacture or 
processing begins as described in 
§ 790.45(d), as appropriate. 

(3) EPA will notify the submitter by 
certified mail of EPA’s decision to 
grant or deny an extension request. 

(4) Persons who have been granted an 
extension of time for submission of 
study plans as described in paragraph 
(b)(1) of this section and who do not 
submit proposed study plans in compli-
ance with the requirements of a Phase 

I test rule in accordance with the new 
deadline granted by EPA will be con-
sidered in violation of the test rule as 
if no letter of intent to test had been 
submitted as described in § 790.45(e) and 
(f). 

(c) Content of study plans. (1) All 
study plans are required to contain the 
following information: 

(i) Identity of the test rule. 
(ii) The specific test requirements of 

that rule to be covered by the study 
plan. 

(iii)(A) The names and addresses of 
the test sponsors. 

(B) The names, addresses, and tele-
phone numbers of the responsible ad-
ministrative officials and project man-
ager(s) in the principal sponsor’s orga-
nization. 

(C) The name, address, and telephone 
number of the appropriate individual 
to contact for oral and written commu-
nications with EPA. 

(D)(1) The names and addresses of the 
testing facilities and the names, ad-
dresses, and telephone numbers of the 
testing facilities’ administrative offi-
cials and project manager(s) respon-
sible for the testing. 

(2) Brief summaries of the training 
and experience of each professional in-
volved in the study, including study di-
rector, veterinarian(s), toxicologist(s), 
pathologist(s), chemist(s), microbiolo-
gist(s), and laboratory assistants. 

(iv) Identity and data on the chem-
ical substance(s) being tested, includ-
ing physical constants, spectral data, 
chemical analysis, and stability under 
test and storage conditions, as appro-
priate. 

(v) Study protocol, including the ra-
tionale for any combination of test 
protocols; the rationale for species/ 
strain selection; dose selection (and 
supporting data); route(s) or method(s) 
of exposure; description of diet to be 
used and its source; including nutrients 
and contaminants and their concentra-
tions; for in vitro test systems, a de-
scription of culture medium and its 
source; and a summary of expected 
spontaneous chronic diseases (includ-
ing tumors), genealogy, and life span. 

(vi) Schedule for initiation and com-
pletion of each short-term test and of 
each major phase of long-term tests; 
dates for submission of interim 
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progress and final reports to EPA that 
are within the reporting deadlines 
specified by EPA In the final test rule. 

(2) Information required in paragraph 
(c)(1)(iii)(D) of this section is not re-
quired in proposed study plans sub-
mitted in compliance with the require-
ments of a Phase I test rule if the in-
formation is not available at the time 
of study plan submission; however, the 
information must be submitted before 
the initiation of testing. 

(d) Incomplete study plans. (1) Upon re-
ceipt of a study plan, EPA will review 
the study plan to determine whether it 
complies with paragraph (c) of this sec-
tion. If EPA determines that the study 
plan does not comply with paragraph 
(c) of this section, EPA will notify the 
submitter that the submission is in-
complete and will identify the defi-
ciencies and the steps necessary to 
complete the submission. 

(2) The submitter will have 15 days 
after the day it receives this notice to 
submit appropriate information to 
make the study plan complete. 

(3) If the submitter fails to provide 
appropriate information to complete a 
proposed study plan submitted in com-
pliance with the requirements of a 
Phase I test rule on or before 15 days 
after receipt of the notice, the sub-
mitter will be considered in violation 
of the test rule as if no letter of intent 
to conduct the test had been submitted 
as described in § 790.45(e) and (f). 

(e) Amendments to study plans. Test 
sponsors shall submit all amendments 
to study plans to the Director, Office of 
Compliance Monitoring at the address 
in § 790.5(d). 

[50 FR 20657, May 17, 1985. Redesignated and 
amended at 51 FR 23713, June 30, 1986; 52 FR 
36569, Sept. 30, 1987; 54 FR 36313, Sept. 1, 1989; 
55 FR 18884, May 7, 1990; 58 FR 34205, June 23, 
1993; 60 FR 34466, July 3, 1995] 

§ 790.52 Phase II test rule. 

(a) If EPA determines that the pro-
posed study plan described in 
§ 790.50(a)(2) complies with § 790.50(c), 
EPA will publish a proposed Phase II 
test rule in the FEDERAL REGISTER re-
questing comments on the ability of 
the proposed study plan to ensure that 
data from the test will be reliable and 
adequate. 

(b) EPA will provide a 45-day com-
ment period and will provide an oppor-
tunity for an oral presentation upon 
the request of any person. EPA may ex-
tend the comment period if it appears 
from the nature of the issues raised by 
EPA’s review or from public comments 
that further comment is warranted. 

(c) After receiving and considering 
public comments on the study plan, 
EPA will adopt, as proposed or as 
modified in response to EPA review 
and public comments, the study pro-
tocol section of the study plan, as de-
fined by § 790.50(c)(1)(v) of this chapter, 
as the test standard for the required 
testing, and the schedule section of the 
study plan, as defined by 
§ 790.50(c)(1)(vi) of this chapter, as the 
schedule for the required testing in a 
final Phase II test rule. 

[50 FR 20657, May 17, 1985. Redesignated at 51 
FR 23713, June 30, 1986, and amended at 52 FR 
36569, Sept. 30, 1987] 

§ 790.55 Modification of test standards 
or schedules during conduct of test. 

(a) Application. Any test sponsor who 
wishes to modify the test schedule for 
the mandatory testing conditions or 
requirements (i.e., ‘‘shall statements’’) 
in the test standard for any test re-
quired by a test rule must submit an 
application in accordance with this 
paragraph. Application for modifica-
tion must be made in writing to EPA 
at the address in § 790.5(b), or by phone 
with written confirmation to follow 
within 10 working days. Applications 
must include an appropriate expla-
nation and rationale for the modifica-
tion. Where a test sponsor requests 
EPA to provide guidance or to clarify a 
non-mandatory testing requirement 
(i.e., ‘‘should statements’’) in a test 
standard, the test sponsor should sub-
mit these requests to EPA at the ad-
dress in § 790.5(b). 

(b) Adoption. (1) Where EPA con-
cludes that the requested modification 
of a test standard or schedule for a test 
required under a test rule is appro-
priate, EPA will proceed in accordance 
with this paragraph (b). 

(2) Where, in EPA’s judgment, the re-
quested modification of the test stand-
ard or schedule would not alter the 
scope of the test or significantly 
change the schedule for completing the 
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test, EPA will not ask for public com-
ment before approving the modifica-
tion. EPA will notify the test sponsor 
by letter of EPA’s approval. EPA will 
place copies of each application and 
EPA approval letter in the rulemaking 
record for the test rule in question. 
EPA will publish a notice annually in 
the FEDERAL REGISTER indicating the 
test standards or schedules for tests re-
quired in test rules which have been 
modified under this paragraph (b)(2) 
and describing the nature of the modi-
fications. Until the FEDERAL REGISTER 
notice is published, any modification 
approved by EPA under this paragraph 
(b)(2) shall apply only to the test spon-
sor who applied for the modification 
under this paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion. 

(3) Where, in EPA’s judgment, the re-
quested modification of a test standard 
or schedule would significantly alter 
the scope of the test or significantly 
change the schedule for completing the 
test, EPA will publish a notice in the 
FEDERAL REGISTER requesting com-
ment on the proposed modification. 
However, EPA will approve a requested 
modification of a test standard under 
paragraph (b)(3) of this section without 
first seeking public comment if EPA 
believes that an immediate modifica-
tion to the test standard is necessary 
to preserve the accuracy or validity of 
an ongoing test. EPA may also modify 
a testing requirement or test condition 
in a test standard if EPA determines 
that the completion or achievement of 
this requirement or condition is not 
technically feasible. EPA may approve 
a test schedule extension under para-
graph (b)(3) of this section without 
first seeking public comment if EPA 
determines, on a case-by-case basis, 
that a delay of over 12 months is not 
the fault of the test sponsor and is the 
result of unforeseen circumstances 
such as a lack of laboratory avail-
ability, lack of availability of suitable 
test substance (e.g., 14–C labelled test 
substance), lack of availability of 
healthy test organisms, or the unex-
pected failure of a long-term test. EPA 
will publish an annual notice in the 
FEDERAL REGISTER announcing the ap-
proval of any test standard modifica-
tions and test schedule extensions 
under paragraph (b)(3) of this section 

and provide a brief rationale of why the 
modification was granted. 

(4) For purposes of this paragraph (b), 
a requested modification of a test 
standard or schedule for a test required 
under a test rule would alter the scope 
of the test or significantly change the 
schedule for completing the test if the 
modification would: 

(i) Change the test species. 
(ii) Change the route of administra-

tion of the test chemical. 
(iii) Change the period of time during 

which the test species is exposed to the 
test chemical. 

(iv) Except as provided in paragraph 
(b)(3) of this section, extend the final 
reporting deadline more than 12 
months from the date specified in the 
final rule. 

(c) Disapproval. Where EPA concludes 
that the requested modification of a 
test standard or schedule for a test re-
quired under a test rule is not appro-
priate, EPA will so notify the test 
sponsor in writing. 

(d) Timing. (1) Test sponsors should 
submit all applications for test sched-
ule modifications at least 60 days be-
fore the reporting deadline for the test 
in question. 

(2) EPA will not normally approve 
any test schedule extensions submitted 
less than 30 days before the reporting 
deadline for the test in question. 

(3) Except as provided in paragraph 
(b)(3) of this section, EPA may grant 
extensions for up to 1 year but will nor-
mally limit extensions to a period of 
time equal to the in-life portion of the 
test plus 60 days. 

(4) EPA will normally approve only 
one deadline extension for each test. 

(5) Test sponsors should submit re-
quests for test standard modifications 
as soon as they determine that the test 
cannot be successfully completed ac-
cording to the test standard specified 
in the rule. 

[50 FR 20657, May 17, 1985. Redesignated at 51 
FR 23713, June 30, 1986, and amended at 52 FR 
36571, Sept. 30, 1987; 54 FR 36314, Sept. 1, 1989; 
60 FR 34466, July 3, 1995] 

§ 790.59 Failure to comply with a test 
rule. 

(a) Persons who notified EPA of their 
intent to conduct a test required in a 
test rule in part 799 of this chapter and 
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who fail to conduct the test in accord-
ance with the test standards and sched-
ules adopted in the test rule, or as 
modified in accordance with § 790.55, 
will be in violation of the rule. 

(b) Any person who fails or refuses to 
comply with any aspect of this part or 
a test rule under part 799 of this chap-
ter is in violation of section 15 of the 
Act. EPA will treat violations of the 
Good Laboratory Practice standards as 
indicated in § 792.17 of this chapter. 

Subpart D—Implementation, En-
forcement and Modification 
of Consent Agreements 

SOURCE: 51 FR 23715, June 30, 1986, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 790.60 Contents of consent agree-
ments. 

(a) Standard provisions. All consent 
agreements will contain the following 
provisions: 

(1) Identification of the chemical(s) 
to be tested. 

(2) The health effects, environmental 
effects and/or other characteristics for 
which testing will be required. 

(3) The names and addresses of each 
manufacturer and/or processor who will 
sign the agreement. 

(4) The name and address of the man-
ufacturer, processor or other entity 
who has agreed to act as the principal 
test sponsor. 

(5) The technical or commercial 
grade, level of purity or other charac-
teristics of the test substances(s) or 
mixture(s). 

(6) Standards for the development of 
test data. 

(7) A requirement that testing will be 
conducted in accordance with the EPA 
Good Laboratory Practice (GLP) regu-
lations (40 CFR part 792). 

(8) Schedules with reasonable dead-
lines for submitting interim progress 
and/or final reports to EPA. 

(9) A requirement that the principal 
sponsor will submit a study plan to 
EPA in accordance with § 790.62. 

(10) A statement that the results of 
testing conducted pursuant to the con-
sent agreement will be announced to 
the public in accordance with the pro-
cedures specified in section 4(d) of the 
Act and that the disclosure of data 

generated by such testing will be gov-
erned by section 14(b) of the Act. 

(11) A requirement that the manufac-
turers and/or processors signing the 
consent agreement will comply with 
the notification requirements of sec-
tion 12(b)(1) of the Act and part 707 of 
this chapter if they export or intend to 
export the substance or mixture for 
which the submission of data is re-
quired under the agreement and a 
statement that any other person who 
exports or intends to export such sub-
stance or mixture is subject to the 
above cited export notification require-
ments. 

(12) A requirement that, in the event 
EPA promulgates a significant new use 
rule applicable to the test chemical 
under section 5(a)(2), the consent 
agreement will have the status of a 
test rule for purposes of section 
5(b)(1)(A) and manufacturers and/or 
processors signing the agreement will 
comply with the data submission re-
quirements imposed by that provision. 

(13) A statement that each manufac-
turer and/or processor signing the 
agreement agrees that violation of its 
requirements will constitute a ‘‘pro-
hibited act’’ under section 15(1) of the 
Act and will trigger all provisions of 
TSCA applicable to a violation of sec-
tion 15. 

(14) A statement that, in the event 
one or more provisions of the agree-
ment are determined to be unenforce-
able by a court, the remainder of the 
agreement would not be presumed to be 
valid and EPA will then either initiate 
a rulemaking proceeding or publish in 
the FEDERAL REGISTER the Administra-
tor’s reason for not initiating such a 
proceeding. 

(15) A statement that the Agency 
may conduct laboratory inspections 
and/or study audits of the testing being 
conducted pursuant to the consent 
agreement in accordance with the au-
thority and procedures contained in 
section 11 of the Act. 

(16) A statement that EPA accept-
ance of a consent agreement con-
stitutes ‘‘final agency action’’ for pur-
poses of 5 U.S.C. 704. 

(17) Any other requirements that the 
parties agree are necessary to achieve 
the purposes of the Act. 
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(b) Contents of standards for the devel-
opment of data. The standards for the 
development of the data included in 
consent agreements will be based on 
the TSCA test guidelines in 40 CFR 
parts 796, 797, and 798, the Organization 
for Economic Cooperation and Develop-
ment (OECD) test guidelines, the EPA 
pesticide assessment guidelines pub-
lished by The National Technical Infor-
mation Service (NTIS), or other suit-
able test methodologies. During the ne-
gotiation of consent agreements, EPA 
will initially propose suitable test 
guidelines as the required test stand-
ards; manufacturers and processors or 
other interested parties may then sug-
gest alternative methodologies or 
modifications to the Agency’s proposed 
guidelines. These alternative meth-
odologies or modifications will be 
adopted only where, in the judgment of 
EPA, they will develop at least equally 
reliable and adequate data on the 
chemical substance or mixture subject 
to the agreement. 

(c) Statement of rationale for consent 
agreement. EPA will prepare a written 
explanation of the basis for each con-
sent agreement. This document will 
summarize the agreement, describe any 
ITC testing recommendations for the 
chemical involved, outline the chemi-
cal’s use and exposure characteristics, 
and explain the objectives of the test-
ing to be conducted and the rationale 
for the specific studies selected. This 
document will be published in the FED-
ERAL REGISTER and, for ITC-designated 
chemicals, will constitute the state-
ment of EPA’s reasons for not initi-
ating rulemaking required by section 
4(e)(1)(B) of the Act. 

[51 FR 23715, June 30, 1986, as amended at 54 
FR 36314, Sept. 1, 1989] 

§ 790.62 Submission of study plans and 
conduct of testing. 

(a) Timing of submission. The principal 
sponsor of testing conducted pursuant 
to a consent agreement shall submit a 
study plan no later than 45 days prior 
to the initiation of testing. 

(b) Content of study plans. All study 
plans are required to contain the fol-
lowing information: 

(1) Identity of the consent agreement 
under which testing will be performed. 

(2) The specific test requirements to 
be covered by the study plan. 

(3) The name and address of the prin-
cipal test sponsor. 

(4) The names, addresses, and tele-
phone numbers of the responsible ad-
ministrative official[s] and project 
manager[s] in the principal sponsor’s 
organization. 

(5) The names, addresses, and tele-
phone numbers of the technical con-
tacts at each manufacturer and/or 
processor subject to the agreement. 

(6) The names and addresses of the 
testing facilities responsible for the 
testing and the names, addresses, and 
telephone numbers of the administra-
tive officials[s] and project manager[s] 
assigned to oversee the testing pro-
gram at these facilities. 

(7) Brief summaries of the training 
and experience of each professional in-
volved in the study, including study di-
rector, veterinarian[s], toxicologist[s], 
pathologist[s], chemist[s], 
microbiologist[s], and laboratory as-
sistants. 

(8) Identity and supporting data on 
the chemical substance[s] being tested, 
including physical constants, spectral 
data, chemical analysis, and stability 
under test and storage conditions, as 
appropriate. 

(9) Study protocol, including the ra-
tionale for any combination of test 
protocols; the rationale for species/ 
strain selection; dose selection (and 
supporting data); route(s) or method(s) 
of exposure; description of diet to be 
used and its source, including nutrients 
and contaminants and their concentra-
tions; for in vitro test systems, a de-
scription of culture medium and its 
source; and a summary of expected 
spontaneous chronic diseases (includ-
ing tumors), genealogy, and life span. 

(10) A schedule, with reasonable 
timeables and deadlines, for initiation 
and completion of each short-term test 
and of each major phases of long-term 
tests, and submission of interim 
progress and/or final reports to EPA. 

(c) Review and modification. (1) Upon 
receipt of a study plan, EPA will re-
view it to determine whether it com-
plies with paragraph (b) of this section. 
If EPA determines that the study plan 
does not comply with paragraph (b) of 
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this section, EPA will notify the sub-
mitter that the plan is incomplete and 
will identify the deficiencies and the 
steps necessary to complete the plan. 
It is the responsibility of the test spon-
sor to review the study protocols to de-
termine if they comply with all the 
mandatory testing conditions and re-
quirements in the test standards (i.e., 
‘‘shall statements’’). 

(2) The submitter will have 15 days 
after the day it receives a notice under 
paragraph (c)(1) of this section to sub-
mit appropriate information to make 
the study plan complete. 

(3) If the submitter fails to provide 
appropriate information to complete a 
study plan within 15 days after having 
received a notice under paragraph (c)(1) 
of this section, the submitter will be 
considered to be in violation of the 
consent agreement and subject to en-
forcement proceedings pursuant to 
§ 790.65 (c) and (d). 

(4) The test sponsor shall submit any 
amendments to study plans to EPA at 
the address specified in § 790.5(b). 

(d) Functions of the principal test spon-
sor. When testing is being conducted 
pursuant to a consent agreement, the 
principal test sponsor will be respon-
sible for submitting interim progress 
and final reports to EPA, informing the 
Agency of any proposed changes in 
standards for the development of data, 
study plans or testing schedules, and 
communicating with the Agency about 
laboratory inspections and other mat-
ters affecting the progress of testing. 

[51 FR 23715, June 30, 1986, as amended at 54 
FR 36314, Sept. 1, 1989; 60 FR 34466, July 3, 
1995] 

§ 790.65 Failure to comply with a con-
sent agreement. 

(a) Manufacturers and/or processors 
who have signed a consent agreement 
and who fail to comply with the test 
requirements, test standards, GLP reg-
ulations, schedules, or other provisions 
contained in the consent agreement, or 
in modifications to the agreement 
adopted pursuant to § 790.68, will be in 
violation of the consent agreement. 

(b) The Agency considers failure to 
comply with any aspect of a consent 
agreement to be a ‘‘prohibited act’’ 
under section 15 of TSCA, subject to all 
of the provisions of the Act applicable 

to violations of section 15. Section 15(1) 
of TSCA makes it unlawful for any per-
son to fail or refuse to comply with any 
rule or order issued under section 4. 
Consent agreements adopted pursuant 
to this part are ‘‘orders issued under 
section 4’’ for purposes of section 15(1) 
of TSCA. 

(c) Manufacturers and/or processors 
who violate consent agreements are 
subject to criminal and/or civil liabil-
ity. Under the penalty provisions of 
section 16 of TSCA, such firms could be 
subject to a civil penalty of up to 
$25,000 per violation with each day in 
violation constituting a separate viola-
tion of section 15. Intentional viola-
tions could lead to the imposition of 
criminal penalties of up to $25,000 for 
each day of violation and imprison-
ment for up to one year. In addition, 
EPA could invoke the remedies avail-
able under section 17 of TSCA, includ-
ing seeking an injunction to compel 
adherence to the requirements of the 
consent agreement. 

(d) Noncompliance with a consent 
agreement will constitute conduct ‘‘in 
violation of this Act’’ under section 
20(a)(1) of TSCA. Thus, failure to com-
ply with the requirements of a consent 
agreement could result in a citizens’ 
civil action under section 20(a)(1) of 
TSCA. 

§ 790.68 Modification of consent agree-
ments. 

(a) Changes in the scope of testing. (1) 
Manufacturers or processors subject to 
a consent agreement, other persons or 
EPA may seek modifications in the 
scope of testing performed under the 
consent agreement. If, upon receiving a 
request for modification, EPA deter-
mines that new issues have been raised 
that warrant reconsideration of the 
scope of testing, or if EPA determines 
on its own that such reconsideration is 
appropriate, EPA will publish a FED-
ERAL REGISTER notice describing the 
proposed modification and soliciting 
public comment. If, based on the com-
ments received, EPA concludes that 
differences of opinion may exist about 
the proposed modification, EPA will 
establish a schedule for conducting ne-
gotiations and invite parties who wish 
to participate in or monitor these ne-
gotiations to contact the Agency in 
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writing. Any negotiations that EPA 
conducts will conform to the proce-
dures specified in § 790.22(b). 

(2) The scope of testing required by a 
consent agreement will be modified 
only where there is a consensus con-
cerning the modified testing require-
ments among EPA, affected manufac-
turers and/or processors, and other per-
sons who have asked to participate in 
or monitor negotiations under para-
graph (a)(1) of this section. In deter-
mining whether a consensus exists, 
EPA will employ the criteria specified 
in § 790.22(b)(8). In the absence of con-
sensus, EPA may initiate rulemaking 
under section 4(a) of the Act if it con-
cludes that any testing beyond that re-
quired by the consent agreement is 
necessary and that the other statutory 
findings required by section 4(a) can be 
made. While such rulemaking pro-
ceedings are underway, the consent 
agreement will remain in effect unless 
EPA finds that the testing required by 
the agreement is or may be unneces-
sary in view of the testing require-
ments included in EPA’s proposed rule. 

(b) Changes in test standards or sched-
ules. (1) Any test sponsor who wishes to 
modify the test schedule for any test 
required under a consent order must 
submit an application in accordance 
with this paragraph. Application for 
modification must be made in writing 
to EPA at the address in § 790.5(b), or 
by phone with written confirmation to 
follow within 10 working days. Applica-
tions must include an appropriate ex-
planation and rationale for the modi-
fication. EPA will consider only those 
applications that request modifications 
to mandatory testing conditions or re-
quirements (‘‘shall statements’’ in the 
consent order). Where a test sponsor 
requests EPA to provide guidance or to 
clarify a non-mandatory testing re-
quirement (i.e., ‘‘should statements’’), 
the test sponsor should submit these 
requests to EPA at the address in sec-
tion 790.5(b). 

(2)(i) Where EPA concludes that the 
requested modification of a test stand-
ard or schedule for a test required 
under a consent agreement is appro-
priate, EPA will proceed in accordance 
with this paragraph (b)(2). 

(ii) Where, in EPA’s judgment, the 
requested modification of a test stand-

ard or schedule would not alter the 
scope of the test or significantly 
change the schedule for completing the 
test, EPA will not ask for public com-
ment before approving the modifica-
tion. EPA will notify the test sponsor, 
and any other persons who have signed 
the consent agreement, by letter of 
EPA’s approval. EPA will place copies 
of each application and EPA approval 
letter in the administrative record 
maintained for the consent agreement 
in question. EPA will publish a notice 
annually in the FEDERAL REGISTER in-
dicating the test standards or sched-
ules for test required in consent agree-
ments which have been modified under 
this paragraph (b)(2)(ii) and describing 
the nature of the modifications. 

(iii) Where, in EPA’s judgment, the 
requested modification of a test stand-
ard or schedule would significantly 
alter the scope of the test or signifi-
cantly change the schedule for com-
pleting the test, EPA will publish a no-
tice in the FEDERAL REGISTER request-
ing comment on the proposed modifica-
tion. However, EPA will approve a re-
quested modification of a test standard 
under paragraph (b)(2)(iii) of this sec-
tion without first seeking public com-
ment if EPA believes that an imme-
diate modification to the test standard 
is necessary to preserve the accuracy 
or validity of an ongoing test. EPA 
also may modify a testing requirement 
or test condition in a test standard if 
EPA determines that the completion or 
achievement of this requirement or 
condition is not technically feasible. 
EPA may approve a requested modi-
fication of a test schedule under para-
graph (b)(2)(iii) of this section without 
first seeking public comment if EPA 
determines, on a case-by-case basis, 
that a delay of over 12 months is not 
the fault of the test sponsor and is due 
to unforeseen circumstances such as a 
lack of laboratory availability, lack of 
availability of suitable test substance 
(e.g., 14–C labelled test substance), lack 
of availability of healthy test orga-
nisms, or the unexpected failure of a 
long-term test. EPA will publish an an-
nual notice in the FEDERAL REGISTER 
announcing the approval of any test 
standard modifications and test sched-
uled extensions under paragraph 
(b)(2)(iii) of this section, and provide a 
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brief rationale of why the modification 
was granted. 

(iv) For purposes of this paragraph 
(b)(2), a requested modification of a 
test standard of schedule for a test re-
quired under a consent agreement 
would alter the scope of the test or sig-
nificantly change the schedule for com-
pleting the test if the modification 
would: 

(A) Change the test species. 
(B) Change the route of administra-

tion of the test chemical. 
(C) Change the period of time during 

which the test species is exposed to the 
test chemical. 

(D) Except as provided in paragraph 
(b)(2)(iii) of this section, extend the 
final reporting deadline more than 12 
months from the date specified in the 
consent order. 

(3) Where EPA concludes that the re-
quested modification of a test standard 
or schedule for a test requirement 
under a consent agreement is not ap-
propriate, EPA will so notify the test 
sponsor in writing. 

(c) Timing. (1) Test sponsors should 
submit all applications for test sched-
ule modifications at least 60 days be-
fore the reporting deadline for the test 
in question. 

(2) EPA will not normally approve 
any test schedule extensions submitted 
less than 30 days before the reporting 
deadline for the test in question. 

(3) Except as provided in paragraph 
(b)(2)(iii) of this section, EPA may 
grant extensions as shown necessary 
for up to 1 year but will normally limit 
extensions to a period of time equal to 
the in-life portion of the test plus 60 
days. 

(4) EPA will normally approve only 
one deadline extension for each test. 

(5) Test sponsors should submit re-
quests for test standard modifications 
as soon as they determine that the test 
cannot be successfully completed ac-
cording to the test standard specified 
in the consent order. 

[51 FR 23715, June 30, 1986, as amended at 52 
FR 36571, Sept. 30, 1987; 54 FR 36314, Sept. 1, 
1989; 60 FR 34466, July 3, 1995; 75 FR 56476, 
Sept. 16, 2010] 

Subpart E—Exemptions From Test 
Rules 

SOURCE: 50 FR 20660, May 17, 1985, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 790.80 Submission of exemption ap-
plications. 

(a) Who should file applications. (1) 
Any manufacturer or processor subject 
to a test rule in part 799 of this chapter 
may submit an application to EPA for 
an exemption from performing any or 
all of the tests required under the test 
rule. 

(2) Processors will not be required to 
apply for an exemption or conduct test-
ing unless EPA so specifies in a test 
rule or in a special FEDERAL REGISTER 
notice as described in § 790.48(b)(2) 
under the following circumstances: 

(i) If testing is being required to 
allow evaluation of risks associated 
with manufacturing and processing or 
with distribution in commerce, use, or 
disposal of the chemical and manufac-
turers do not submit notice(s) of intent 
to conduct the required testing; or 

(ii) If testing is being required solely 
to allow evaluation of risks associated 
with processing of the chemical. 

(b) When applications must be filed. (1) 
Exemption applications must be filed 
within 30 days after the effective date 
of the test rule described in § 790.40 or, 
if being submitted in compliance with 
the FEDERAL REGISTER notice described 
in § 790.48(b)(2), within 30 days after the 
publication of that notice. 

(2) Exemption applications must be 
filed by the date manufacture or proc-
essing begins by any person not manu-
facturing or processing the subject 
chemical as of the effective date of the 
test rule described in § 790.40 or by 30 
days after the effective date of the test 
rule described in § 790.40, who, before 
the end of the reimbursement period, 
manufactures or processes the test sub-
stance and who is subject to the re-
quirement to submit either a letter of 
intent to test or an exemption applica-
tion. 

(3) When both manufacturers and 
processors are subject to the rule, ex-
emption applications must be filed by 
the date processing begins by any per-
son not processing as of the effective 
date of the test rule described in § 790.40 
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or by 30 days after publication of the 
FEDERAL REGISTER notice described in 
§ 790.48(b)(2) who, before the end of the 
reimbursement period, processes the 
test substance and who is subject to 
the requirement to submit either a let-
ter of intent to test or an exemption 
application. 

(c) Scope of application. A person may 
apply for an exemption from all, or one 
or more, specific testing requirements 
in a test rule in part 799 of this chap-
ter. 

[50 FR 20660, May 17, 1985, as amended at 58 
FR 34205, June 23, 1993] 

§ 790.82 Content of exemption applica-
tion. 

The exemption application must con-
tain: 

(a) The identity of the test rule, the 
chemical identity, and the CAS No. of 
the test substance on which the appli-
cation is based. 

(b) The specific testing require-
ment(s) from which an exemption is 
sought and the basis for the exemption 
request. 

(c) Name, address, and telephone 
number of applicant. 

(d) Name, address, and telephone 
number of appropriate individual to 
contact for further information. 

(e)(1) If required in the test rule to 
establish equivalence: 

(i) The chemical identity of the test 
substance on which the application is 
based. 

(ii) Equivalence data specified in 
§ 790.85. 

(2) If a test rule requires testing of a 
single representative substance, EPA 
will consider all forms of the chemical 
subject to that rule to be equivalent 
and will not require the submission of 
equivalence data as described in 
§ 790.85. 

[50 FR 20660, May 17, 1985, as amended at 54 
FR 36315, Sept. 1, 1989] 

§ 790.85 Submission of equivalence 
data. 

If EPA requires in a test rule promul-
gated under section 4 of the Act the 
testing of two or more test substances 
which are forms of the same chemical, 
each exemption applicant must submit 
the following data: 

(a) The chemical identity of each 
technical-grade chemical substance or 
mixture manufactured and/or processed 
by the applicant for which the exemp-
tion is sought. The exact type of iden-
tifying data required will be specified 
in the test rule, but may include all 
characteristics and properties of the 
applicant’s substance or mixture, such 
as boiling point, melting point, chem-
ical analysis (including identification 
and amount of impurities), additives, 
spectral data, and other physical or 
chemical information that may be rel-
evant in determining whether the ap-
plicant’s substance or mixture is equiv-
alent to the specific test substance. 

(b) The basis for the applicant’s be-
lief that the substance or mixture is 
equivalent to the test substance or 
mixture. 

(c) Any other data which exemption 
applicants are directed to submit in 
the test rule which may bear on a de-
termination of equivalence. This may 
include a description of the process by 
which each technical-grade chemical 
substance or mixture for which an ex-
emption is sought is manufactured or 
processed prior to use or distribution 
in commerce by the applicant. 

§ 790.87 Approval of exemption appli-
cations. 

(a) EPA will conditionally approve 
exemption applications if: 

(1)(i) For single-phase test rules, EPA 
has received a letter of intent to con-
duct the testing from which exemption 
is sought; 

(ii) For two-phase test rules, EPA has 
received a complete proposed study 
plan for the testing from which exemp-
tion is sought and has adopted the 
study plan, as proposed or modified, as 
test standards and schedules in a final 
Phase II test rule; and 

(2) The chemical substance or mix-
ture with respect to which the applica-
tion was submitted is equivalent to a 
test substance or mixture for which the 
required data have been or are being 
submitted in accordance with a test 
rule; and 

(3) Submission of the required test 
data concerning that chemical sub-
stance or mixture would be duplicative 
of data which have been or are being 
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submitted to EPA in accordance with a 
test rule. 

(b)(1) If a single representative sub-
stance is to be tested under a test rule, 
EPA will consider all forms of the 
chemical subject to that rule to be 
equivalent and will contact the exemp-
tion applicant only if information is 
missing or unclear. 

(2) If two or more representative sub-
stances are to be tested under a test 
rule, EPA will evaluate equivalence 
claims made in each exemption appli-
cation according to the criteria dis-
cussed in the test rule. 

(i) If EPA finds an equivalence claim 
to be in error or inadequately sup-
ported, the applicant will be notified 
by certified mail. The applicant will be 
given 15 days to provide clarifying in-
formation. 

(ii) Exemption applicants will be no-
tified that equivalence has been ac-
cepted or rejected. 

(c) The final Phase II test rule which 
adopts the study plans in two-phase 
rulemaking, a separate FEDERAL REG-
ISTER notice in single-phase rule-
making, or a letter by certified mail 
will give exemption applicants final 
notice that they have received a condi-
tional exemption. All conditional ex-
emptions thus granted are contingent 
upon the test sponsors’ successful com-
pletion of testing according to the 
specifications in the test rule. 

§ 790.88 Denial of exemption applica-
tion. 

(a) EPA may deny any exemption ap-
plication if: 

(1) EPA determines that the appli-
cant has failed to demonstrate that the 
applicant’s chemical is equivalent to 
the test substance; or 

(2) The exemption applicant fails to 
submit any of the information speci-
fied in § 790.82; or 

(3) The exemption applicant fails to 
submit any of the information speci-
fied in § 790.85 if required in the test 
rule; or 

(4)(i) For single-phase test rules, EPA 
has not received a letter of intent to 
conduct the test for which exemption 
is sought; or 

(ii) For two-phase test rules, EPA has 
not received an adequate study plan for 

the test for which exemption is sought; 
or 

(5) The study sponsor(s) fails to ini-
tiate the required testing by the dead-
lines adopted in the test rule; or 

(6) The study sponsor(s) fails to sub-
mit data as required in the test stand-
ard and deadlines for submission of test 
data as adopted in the test rule or as 
modified in accordance with § 790.55. 

(b) EPA will notify the exemption ap-
plicant by certified mail or FEDERAL 
REGISTER notice of EPA’s determina-
tion that the exemption application is 
denied. 

§ 790.90 Appeal of denial of exemption 
application. 

(a) Within 30 days after receipt of no-
tification that EPA has denied an ap-
plication for exemption, the applicant 
may file an appeal with EPA. 

(b) The appeal shall indicate the 
basis for the applicant’s request for re-
consideration. 

(c)(1) The applicant may also include 
a request for a hearing. Hearings will 
be held according to the procedures de-
scribed in § 790.97. 

(2) Hearing requests must be in writ-
ing and must be received by EPA with-
in 30 days of receipt of the letter or 
publication of the FEDERAL REGISTER 
notice described in § 790.88(b). Hearing 
requests must provide reasons why a 
hearing is necessary. 

(d) If EPA determines that there are 
material issues of fact, then the re-
quest for a hearing will be granted. If 
EPA denies a hearing request, EPA will 
base its decision on the written sub-
mission. 

(e) EPA will notify the applicant of 
its decision within 60 days after EPA 
receives the appeal described in para-
graph (a) of this section or within 60 
days after completion of a hearing de-
scribed in paragraph (c) of this section. 

(f) The filing of an appeal from the 
denial of an exemption shall not act to 
stay the applicant’s legal obligations 
under a test rule promulgated under 
section 4 of the Act. 

§ 790.93 Termination of conditional ex-
emption. 

(a) EPA shall terminate a conditional 
exemption if it determines that: 
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(1) The test which provided the basis 
for approval of the exemption applica-
tion has not been started by the dead-
lines for initiation of testing adopted 
in the test rule or modified in accord-
ance with § 790.55; or 

(2) Data required by the test rule 
have not been generated in accordance 
with the test standards or submitted in 
accordance with the deadlines for sub-
mission of test data that were adopted 
in the test rule or modified in accord-
ance with § 790.55; or 

(3) The testing has not been con-
ducted or the data have not been gen-
erated in accordance with the Good 
Laboratory Practice requirements in 
part 792 of this chapter. 

(b) If EPA determines that one or 
more of the criteria listed in paragraph 
(a) of this section has been met, EPA 
will notify each holder of an affected 
conditional exemption by certified 
mail or FEDERAL REGISTER notice of 
EPA’s intent to terminate that condi-
tional exemption. 

(c) Within 30 days after receipt of a 
letter of notification or publication of 
a notice in the FEDERAL REGISTER that 
EPA intends to terminate a condi-
tional exemption, the exemption hold-
er may submit information to rebut 
EPA’s preliminary decision or notify 
EPA by letter of its intent to conduct 
the required test pursuant to the test 
standard established in the final test 
rule. Such a letter of intent shall con-
tain all of the information required by 
§ 790.45(c). 

(d)(1) The exemption holder may also 
include a request for a hearing. Hear-
ings will be held in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in § 790.97. 

(2) Hearing requests must be in writ-
ing and must be received by EPA with-
in 30 days after receipt of the letter or 
publication in the FEDERAL REGISTER 
notice described in paragraph (b) of 
this section. 

(e) EPA will notify the exemption 
holder by certified letter or by FED-
ERAL REGISTER notice of EPA’s final 
decision concerning termination of 
conditional exemptions and will give 
instructions as to what actions the 
former exemption holder must take to 
avoid being found in violation of the 
test rule. 

§ 790.97 Hearing procedures. 
(a) Hearing requests must be in writ-

ing to EPA and must include the appli-
cant’s basis for appealing EPA’s deci-
sion. 

(b) If more than one applicant has re-
quested a hearing on similar grounds, 
all of those appeals will be considered 
at the same hearing unless confiden-
tiality claims preclude a joint hearing. 

(c) EPA will notify each applicant of 
EPA’s decision within 60 days after the 
hearing. 

§ 790.99 Statement of financial respon-
sibility. 

Each applicant for an exemption 
shall submit the following sworn state-
ment with his or her application: 

I understand that if this application is 
granted before the reimbursement period de-
scribed in section 4(c)(3)(B) of TSCA expires, 
I must pay fair and equitable reimbursement 
to the person or persons who incurred or 
shared in the costs of complying with the re-
quirement to submit data and upon whose 
data the granting of my application was 
based. 

PART 791—DATA REIMBURSEMENT 

Subpart A—General Provisions 

Sec. 
791.1 Scope and authority. 
791.2 Applicability. 
791.3 Definitions. 

Subpart B—Hearing Procedures 

791.20 Initiation of reimbursement pro-
ceeding. 

791.22 Consolidation of hearings. 
791.27 Pre-hearing preparation. 
791.29 Appointment of hearing officer. 
791.30 Hearing procedures. 
791.31 Expedited procedures. 
791.34 Serving of notice. 
791.37 The award. 
791.39 Fees and expenses. 

Subpart C—Basis for Proposed Order 

791.40 Basis for the proposed order. 
791.45 Processors. 
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791.50 Costs. 
791.52 Multiple tests. 

Subpart D—Review 

791.60 Review. 
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